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Foreword

The preliminary research for this study was carried out
more than ten years ago and was originally intended to provide
a catalogue listing of the buildings constructed following the
Great Fire. It soon became evident, however, that both the
quantity and the quality of information uncovered were suffi-
cient to produce a detailed manuscript treating this episode in
the architectural development of the city. The author, then an
historian with the Architectural History Branch of Parks Can-
ada, was invited to develop and refine the work, and to enhance
the product with such illustrations as were available and appro-
priate. The results of this effort were sufficiently impressive
that Parks Canada offered the manuscript to the then New
Brunswick Historical Resources Administration for publica-
tion.

This monograph is to date the only comprehensive
survey of the dramatic changes in the city’s architecture as a
result of the fire. A miscellany of structures — representing a
century’s growth in technology and design — was swept away.
The post-fire buildings incorporated the benefits of the current
construction materials and workmanship, and the varied deco-
rative elements of the late Victorian style. The city’s wholly
transfigured appearance was unlike that of any contemporary
urban setting in British North America.

Based largely upon information gleaned from newspa-
per reports, this study conveys not only an intimate view of the
process of rebuilding, but also the responses and opinions of the
citizenry. The accompanying photographs present a most rich
and varied selection for this examination. The reader will enjoy
this work for both the commentary and the illustrations of Saint
John and its people over one hundred years ago.

No attempt has been made to regularize the spelling
inconsistencies of nineteenth century writers, nor to correct the
abbreviation “St. John”, used frequently in referring to the city.
The editorial pages of the day flowed with good humoured ar-
gument and angry outcry, colourfully evocative of the range

and intensity of emotions stirred by the disaster and the deci-
sions which ensued.

The tragedy of the Great Fire touched the entire popu-
lace to a greater or lesser degree. W. Franklin Bunting,clerk of
assessment for the city, managed to save most of the records
of his office. His personal belongings, however, were entirely
lost. In early July he wrote his brother, “Since the fire, I have
been working on the Public Relief Committee and assisting as
far as I could to provide for the hundreds of miserable devils
without food, employment, or shelter; the many scenes I have
witnessed have been soul-agonizing.” The diary of eighteen-
year-old Ida Harding provides this brief but telling account:

June 20

Fine....A fire commenced in town about two
o’clock this afternoon. Before it stopped it took
from York Point to the Barracks Wharf. The
whole of St. John. In fact one might say all, for
all the business part is gone.... The fire was
dreadful. Uncle James Harding was burned out
and also Aunt Hammond, Mrs. Caldwell, Dr.
Ring. Ma’s three aunties at the Lower
Cove...were burned to death.

June 21
Lovely day. Fire still burning.?

For most people, however, the impact of the fire was not to fade
as quickly as it appears to have done for the young Miss
Harding. The losses of life and livelihood, of homes and
personal belongings, and of public buildings and official rec-
ords would long remain a sad and fearful memory.

Many individuals have offered both interest and sup-
port in the final production of this book. Warmest appreciation

is extended to all who have contributed.

—Editor

'P.A.N.B., MC 1103, W. Franklin Bunting to Stephen Bunting, 8 July 1877, transcript, p.4.
2Transcribed in Elizabeth W. McGahan, ed., Whispers from the Past: Selections from the Writings of New Brunswick Women (Fredericton: Fid-

dlehead Poetry Books & Goose Lane Editions Ltd., 1986), p.45.
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Introduction

The Great Fire of 1877 in Saint John, New Brunswick
was the most devastating conflagration in the history
of the city and ranked as one of the most destructive
urban fires in 19th century North America.' Saint
John was one of the most prosperous cities on the
continent in the mid-nineteenth century. The staple
industries of the community had traditionally been
shipping, shipbuilding and lumbering. By the 1870s,
however, the conversion from wooden vessels to iron
steamers and iron ships for the transportation of
goods around the world had led to the collapse of the
trade in wooden ships.

The decline of shipbuilding had a serious effect on the
lumber business. “Either of the two troubles was
enough to destroy anything but a strong commercial
centre and a sturdy people”, observed one contempo-
rary writer, “but they came not upon St. John singly,
nor unaccompanied with other calamities.”* On 20
June 1877 two-thirds of the central portion of the city
was destroyed by fire. Along with most of the central
business district, many grand public buildings and
private dwellings were lost. Documents relating to
family histories, church and business records, and
photographs were consumed in the disaster. Such was
the magnitude of destruction that a number of insur-
ance companies went bankrupt.

As a result of the great number and importance of
buildings destroyed, the need for their replacement
was urgent. By June 1881, the city had been rebuilt; in
fact, the buildings erected during the four and one-
half years of large scale reconstruction outnumbered
those standing before the fire. It was an unprece-
dented and since unrepeated period of building in the
city. Several factors combined to determine the proc-
ess of rebuilding. Elaborate building regulations were
passed at an emergency session of the provincial legis-
lature which opened on 29 August 1877. At the same
time a system of building inspection was established
for the rigid enforcement of the new building code.
Architects and workers crowded the city during the
building boom and competition was fierce. A greater
quantity and variety of construction materials were
available at this time than during any other period in
the city’s history. The outcome, at the end of four
years, was a dramatically new architectural view of
Saint John. Many of the buildings of this period today
dominate the older architectural landscape of the cen-
tral part of the city.

The present study, based chiefly on an examination of
the St. John Daily Telegraph, describes this significant
juncture in the city’s architectural history and the

elements which produced it. In the absence of any
standard interpretation of the city’s reconstruction,
newspapers were regarded as an important source. No
modern study of the post-fire architecture has yet been
compiled which relies extensively on contemporary
newspapers and photographs. Because the photo-
graphic and written record of the poorer class of home
is extremely limited, this study concentrates on the
central part of the city, where the more expensive
buildings were located.

Four major daily newspapers were published in Saint
John during this period: the Daily News, the Globe,
the Daily Sun and the St. John Daily Telegraph. The
Daily News began in 1839 as the Morning News. Its
founder was an advocate of Liberalism and responsi-
ble government. By 1863 it was the largest morning
paper in Saint John.' The Globe was started in 1858.
Between 1867 and 1913 it was under the editorship of
the outspoken John V. Ellis, who supported the Lib-
eral party until Confederation, and thereafter the
anti-confederation section of the party.* The Daily
Sun did not appear until 1878, and upheld the interests
of the Liberal-Conservative party. In 1910 it was sold
to the 7elegraph.*

Politically a Liberal newspaper with an ironically
large circulation among Conservative supporters, the
Telegraph was founded in 1862 as a weekly and tri-
weekly by John Livingston, editor and owner. Living-
ston ‘““began a new era in journalism in Saint John by
giving much attention to local news, thus increasing ...
circulation very rapidly”.® With control of both the
Telegraph and the Presbyterian Advocate, Livingston
and his successor as publisher, William Elder, had a
circulation of about twenty thousand each week, “the
largest output for advertising medium east of Mon-
treal in Canada”.’

Until his death in 1888, William Elder published the
Telegraph, with noted New Brunswick historian
James Hannay as associate editor. The Telegraph,
with its emphasis on local matters in reporting as well
as editorial comment, as opposed to world or national
politics, was chosen as the best single source of infor-
mation on the city’s reconstruction. The 7elegraph
supplied the public with contemporary building infor-
mation in the form of detailed descriptions of various
public, private and industrial buildings under con-
struction. General articles on building progress and
lists of new buildings appeared in the paper, both
throughout the reconstruction years and in lengthy
annual reports on building progress for the four-year
period examined.



The Telegraph also served as an advertiser for archi-
tects, builders, labourers, artisans and materials.
Since Saint John itself could not supply sufficient
numbers of architects and labourers for the initial
stages of such a large scale reconstruction program,
articles on these visitors’ origins, arrivals and depar-
tures were numerous. Information relating to archi-
tects and builders included announcements of their
partnerships and their previous professional experi-
ence. Building renditions and floor plans of some of
the major new buildings were reproduced in the 7éle-
graph. As a reflection of public attitudes, a vehicle of
public information, a record of daily changes, and a
participant in public debate, the newspaper’s role is
particularly significant. Its.editor strongly supported
the new building law, giving detailed reports of both
the infractions and the penalties imposed.

Although the Telegraph (20 June 1877 to the end of
1881) represents the major source of information for
this study, other documentation was consulted in or-
der to broaden the perspective. A less thorough read-
ing of its competitors was made, particularly for
supplementary editorial comment in annual reviews
of building progress. The Monetary Times and Trade

Review, a weekly insurance journal published in To-
ronto, provided information on the insurance com-
panies and related matters. George Stewart’s The
Story of the Great Fire in St. John, N.B., June 20,
1877, published shortly after the event, contains a
detailed and illustrated summary of the immediate
effects of the fire. R.H. Conwell’s History of the
Great Fire in Saint John, another early although less
detailed account of the fire, was also examined. The
new building regulations as well as the earlier regula-
tions (1872) were described in the New Brunswick
Acts. The “Report of Edward Willis, on the Manufac-
turing Industries of Certain Sections of the Maritime
Provinces”, published in the federal Sessional Papers
of 1885, offered illumination on the economic devel-
opment of Saint John from 1860 to 1885, with empha-
sis on the late seventies and early eighties. The Willis
report combines tables, interviews with Saint John
businessmen, and a lengthy analysis. Various photo-
graphic collections including those of the New Bruns-
wick Museum, the Provincial Archives of New
Brunswick, several American institutions, and the Ar-
chitectural History Division, Parks Canada were con-
sulted. A representative sample is included.



Notes

John C. Weaver and Peter De Lottinville, “The
Conflagration and the City: Disaster and Pro-
gress in British North America During the Nine-
teenth Century,” paper presented to the
Canadian Historical Association, 1977, p. 1.
The authors refer to the two Quebec fires of
1845, which left 20,000 homeless; the fire in St.
John’s, Newfoundland, in 1846, which burnt
out over half the populace of 20,000; and a fire
in Montreal in 1852, which rendered 10,000
homeless. “The Greatest Disaster in the City of
Saint John,” Globe (Saint John), 31 December
1911, p. 1. Although the cities of Chicago and
Boston both suffered serious conflagrations in
the early 1870s, Saint John’s losses were particu-
larly heavy, in that the fire struck both business
and residential districts.

Canada. Parliament, “Report of Edward Willis,
on the Manufacturing Industries of Certain Sec-
tions of the Maritime Provinces” in Sessional
Papers, 1885 (Ottawa: McLean, Roger & Co.,
1885), Vol. 18, No. 37, p. 42.

J. Russell Harper, Historical Directory of New
Brunswick Newspapers and Periodicals
(Fredericton: University of New Brunswick,
1961), p. 78.
Ibid., p. 62.
Ibid., p. 91.
Ibid., p. 92.

Ibid.



L
e ’

S

% | '
D \\\\\\\\\ <
e T §

S N

¥

FIRE COMMENGED NERE _YoreFi

\\

MarxsrShp N
N

IS
Fas

Reoc . Fe
S

1. Area burned in the Great Fire of 1877 Frank Leslie’s Illustrated News, Supplement (New York: 7 July 1877)



The Extent of the Fire

The fire king claimed tribute from the people of the
rock-bound districts of the mouth of the St. John
River, and two-thirds of St. John City, acknowledg-
ing his demand, were on the 20th June, 1877, laid in
ashes at his feet.'

Fires were a major factor in the architectural evolu-
tion of most North American urban centres in the 19th
century; their susceptibility was determined in large
part by the predominance of wood as a building mate-
rial. Saint John, a typical example, has an early his-
tory liberally punctuated with frequent fires. In
January of 1837 the city’s main business district, then
centered chiefly about Market Square, Prince William
and Water streets and the wharves, burned. One hun-
dred and fifteen buildings, including nearly all of the
mercantile houses, situated near the harbour front,
were destroyed and losses totalled a half-million dol-
lars. Fire again swept through the business district in
1840, and a blaze in the same year claimed 60 houses in
Portland, a community just outside the city limits. A
year later, another fire in the business section caused
the loss of four lives and 40 buildings. During the 70-
year period prior to 1877, the block at York Point,
situated at the west end of Union Street, on the north-
ern line of the city (fig. 1), had burned six times.* It
was at York Point that the Great Fire appropriately
began.

In the afternoon of Wednesday, 20 June, a spark
ignited in a bundle of hay in Mr. Fairweather’s store-
house on the south side of York Point Slip, next to
McLauchlan’s boiler shop. Fanned by a strong north-
east wind, the fire skipped easily through the York
Point district, consuming the buildings on Hare’s
Wharf and sweeping up Smythe Street, along Drury
Lane, Mill and Dock streets. The area was densely
inhabited by poorer families, and contained a large
number of warehouses. Built closely together, the
buildings consisted of two or three storeys, with nu-
merous stoops and outhouses.' Here, where the lanes
and alleys were narrow and all of the buildings con-
structed of wood, thoroughly dry from the heat of the
previous weeks, the fire found ‘highly agreeable
food.”* Resisting the fire fighting effort, the flames
spread from Chipman Hill down to the harbour
(fig. 2). According to one report:

Nothing seemed to materially check their progress.
Brick buildings had wooden cornices, wooden sashes,
unprotected by iron shutters, or wooden outbuildings
attached, affording an easy entrance to the fire, and
when once within the flames were sucked up the flue-
like spaces between the bricks and plaster, made
openings for themselves at the top, then roared madly
as they fed on lath and beam.*

The neighbouring town of Portland sent its fire engine
and firemen, and an engine was brought from Carle-
ton by ferry boat. The fire fighting effort was widely
criticized. The Daily News, for example, described the
firemen as having been “too ambitious” in concen-
trating on saving individual buildings, or in attempt-
ing to put a fire out on one side of the street at a time,
instead of preventing it from spreading. They seemed
to have “little or no idea of putting out fires or render-
ing them harmless by tearing down the burning struc-
ture.” The fire fighters spent hours on flammable
attachments rather than the main buildings, “on a
wooden shed that might be torn down and drenched in
the gutter in ten minutes.”®

At its peak, the light of the fire could be seen from as
far away as Moncton and Fredericton. As the destruc-
tion progressed, so did the confusion and desperation
among the people, resulting in scores of incongruous
episodes. A fire department official was charged with
taking two engines from their proper place in the fight
and moving them to his own house, “vainly attempt-
ing to save it although risking the loss of a hundred
houses by doing so.”” One merchant boasted that he
had saved the key to his office; the building in which
his office had been located, however, was razed.* As
more and more of the city succumbed to the advancing
flames, the Bank of New Brunswick threw open its
vaults to all for the storage of their currency and
bonds, and when the building went, a large number of
people were financially ruined. One witness reported
that the safes dropped into the cellar, and the follow-
ing day when they were opened, the overheated con-
tents exploded. The amount lost, described in the
Telegraph as “‘hot cash,” was never known.’ In the
aftermath, the dilapidated Marine Hospital (fig. 3) at
the corner of Wentworth and St. James streets at-
tracted much attention; it was . . . an oasis of wood
in this desert of ashes.”' According to one source, the
structure was mistakenly saved by a crew that had
been dispatched to preserve a newly built residence."
For some time, the hospital had been slated for demo-
lition; now, all that was left of St. James Street was
ironically . . . the meanest public edifice in the city, a
mere wreck of decaying wood.”"”

Many of the homeless escaped on rafts into Courtenay
Bay, taking with them their household effects (fig. 4).
The International Company’s steamer, New York, the
Carleton ferry boat, several tugs, and the Empress
carried hundreds of refugees to Partridge Island and
to Carleton, while others were fed and sheltered
aboard the ships, boats and steamers overnight."



After about forty hours, the fire abated. The scene, as
viewed from elevated points in the area, was one of
“unrelieved desolation” (fig. 5). According to a con-
temporary account, there was:

. . nothing but ruin - brick, stone, mortar, charred
wood - On three sides of this desolation there is water,
and on the other rises the remainder of the town.
Heaps of coal and other material tenacious of fire still
flame up in many places, and smoke rises from al-
most every heap of debris, making lurid and ghastly
effects by night and day. A pile of broken mortar-
marked bricks, a jagged section of brick wall, a stone
basement with a heap of ashes within, or a chimney
standing like a sentinel in the desert, is all that re-
mains of thousands of homes in which men, women
and children lived, of factories in which hundreds
earned their daily bread, of churches in which the
people worshipped, of shops in which trade was car-
ried on.... More houses are in ruins than were built in
the first half century of the city’s existence."

It was estimated that the fire had swept 290 acres, 83
of which were in Queen’s, 73 in Duke’s, 95 in Sydney
and 39 in King’s wards." Streets and squares which
were partially or totally destroyed numbered thirty-
nine'® (App. A; see for example, Germain Street be-
fore and after the fire, figs. 6 & 7). Of these, 21 were
razed, “. . . not one house being left throughout their
whole extent”."

The remainder, other than King and Pitt streets, had
no more than a block left, and in most cases only
about two or three homes survived. The total length of
streets destroyed was about ten miles."

The number of families that had been burnt out was
calculated in July 1877 by the Telegraph to have been
2,780, and the dwellings consumed, approximately
2,000."” Nothing was left of Queen Square, one of the
wealthier residential districts (figs. 8 & 9). With few
exceptions, the manufacturing establishments, situ-
ated on the outskirts of the city, escaped destruction,
but losses fell heavily upon the mercantile interests.
Vast stores of provisions had been entirely consumed
in the early hours of the fire, and merchants in all
branches of business were destroyed. The principal

dry goods dealers, major grocers, ship brokers, com-
mission merchants and those trading in wholesale lig-
uors, flours, provisions, coal, salt, lumber, tea, and
West India goods lost both their inventories and their
premises.

The destruction of other types of buildings was also
high. Three theatres — the Academy of Music, Dra-
matic Lyceum, and the Dock Street Opera House —
were levelled.* Eleven major churches were reported
to have been destroyed (see ruins of Germain Street
Baptist Church, fig. 10).2* Most of the leading hotels
were lost. Other buildings of a public character which
burned were the customs house (figs. 11 & 12), the
Savings Bank (fig. 13), the Maritime Bank and the
Bank of Montreal (fig. 14), the post office (figs. 15 &
16), city hall, Wiggins Orphan Institution, Temper-
ance Hall, Home for the Aged, Protestant Orphan
Asylum, Deaf and Dumb Institution, St. Malachi’s
Hall, the Roman Catholic Temperance Hall and a
large number of school buildings.*

When to these losses are added private buildings to-
gether with personal possessions, libraries, art collec-
tions, documents, stocks held by merchants and the
enormous quantity of goods kept in bonded ware-
houses, the immensity of spiritual and material priva-
tion can well be imagined:

Who shall gauge the destruction of homes and fire-
sides, the sweeping away of old landmarks, the loss of
portraits of friends, of family heirlooms and of gifts
and momentoes of loved ones who have gone down to

the grave?. . . Yet all these have to be taken into
account when we speak of the losses by the St. John
fire.™

Campaigning for more financial aid from federal
sources for rebuilding, A.L. Palmer, a local Member
of Parliament, maintained that, ‘“Although fires
were, unfortunately, very common, the one of St.
John was of such an extraordinary character, that it
was not likely a similar one would occur in this Do-
minion for another 200 years. The country has never
seen a fire so destructive as that. . .. 7
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The New Building Laws

Legislation

A new building act was passed on 5 September 1877, at
an emergency session of the provincial legislature
which was convened to deal with the Saint John crisis.
For precedents, the city looked to its New England
neighbour, Boston, which had sustained a serious fire
four years earlier. This fire had consumed buildings on
110 acres of the city’s most crowded business districts
and was said to be “second only to that of Chicago in
respect to the value of property destroyed”.' The Bos-
ton building laws were recommended as a standard by
various advocates of strict reform in building con-
struction, including the Telegraph.* A month after the
fire when the new building laws were being drafted,
W.G. Preston, an architect then in Saint John, wrote
to the editor of the 7elegraph that, “although in some
minor points imperfect, like all things human,” the
Boston legislation was, he thought, “the best and
most complete code we have thus far, and might well
serve as a basis or model law for your city. It has well
stood the test of experience... and has been used by
several other cities as an outline for their own use.”*

Both the restrictions on building and the large powers
given to the inspector in the Boston act were consid-
ered when Saint John prepared its proposal for the
legislature. While the Saint John building laws were
being drafted and debated, the local newspapers
printed articles recommending precautions for fire-
resistant building. Boston’s laws, for example, recog-
nized the potential danger of wooden structures; this
applied not only to exterior walls, but to roofs, deco-
ration or internal construction. Even brick and stone
buildings could be hazardous if they contained, or
were surrounded by, wood. The 7Telegraph warned
that:

A lofty brick building, with a wooden roof, is the
most dangerous of all structures when it catches fire
for it becomes at once an enormous stove, and the
light wood from the roof is sent into the air with awful
force, in burning brands, to set fire to everything
combustible in the neighbourhood.*

The new Saint John building act superseded the less
detailed and more liberal “Law for the better preven-
tion of Conflagrations in the City of Saint John”
(1872).* The proposed “New Fire Limits Law” was
published in the Telegraph a few days before presenta-
tion in the legislature, in an effort to discourage any
construction which would contravene the new regula-
tions.® In fact, in order to avoid the more expensive
restrictions of the impending legislation, some prop-
erty owners hurriedly rebuilt before the act was passed

on 5 September 1877. Architect W.G. Preston, a
strong advocate of the use of brick or stone for re-
building, as opposed to wood, wrote to the editor of
the Telegraph concerning the problems these early
buildings were creating:

For example, 1 noticed an eight-inch wall being run
up on King Street. . . . Now, when you enact a build-
ing law, as surely you must, requiring such a wall to
be 16 or 20 inches thick, this party’s neighbours suffer
from being forced to build more expensively (entail-
ing a higher rental) than their thin walled friend, and
at the same time suffer the penalties of increased
danger, and insurance, from such proximity.”

The new act divided the city into three districts (fig.
17). The first district embraced the traditional busi-
ness portion of the city; two-thirds of this area had
been destroyed in the fire. The remaining one-third
contained only a small number of wooden buildings.*
In this area, no wood construction or unprotected
wood attachments were allowed.

In District 2 wooden dwellings and other structures
were permitted, provided they did not exceed 25 feet in
height, or 25 feet from a brick or stone basement not
more than 5 feet above the street surface. These build-
ings could not be built more than two storeys above a
basement, and their roofs were to be flat and covered
with slate or some other non-combustible material.®

In District 3, buildings rising to 36 feet (from the
highest level of any street on which the building
fronted) were allowed. Wooden buildings under 36
feet high, from a brick or stone basement measuring
no more than 4 feet above the street surface, could be
built in this area. Warehouse sheds could be con-
structed of wood on or adjoining the wharves and
piers of this district, providing that they measured no
more than 12 feet above the surface of the wharf or
pier and that their roofs were covered with gravel or
metal roofing."

The act followed the Boston building laws, which
stipulated that within a defined district every building
had to be constructed of a non-combustible fabric,
whether this be brick, stone, iron or some other appro-
priate material. The sole exception was that wooden
storage sheds, no higher than 27 feet, were allowed on
the wharves. These structures, too, required non-
combustible roofing."

A further amendment was passed in 1878, regarding
construction on wharves. In view of the difficulty and
expense of obtaining foundations of solid brick or
stone for buildings or walls on the North Market



Wharf to the west of Nelson Street, and on South
Market Wharf to the west of a line drawn one hundred
feet to the east of the line of Ward Street, property
owners in these portions of District 1 were permitted
to construct brick-cased buildings without the 1877
restrictions. The structures were not to exceed 36 feet
above the level of the street or wharf. Party walls or
exterior side walls were to be not less than 8 inches
thick, of brick, and built up 12 inches above the roof.
To facilitate future fire fighting, the roofs had to be
flat and covered with gravel, and have at least one
scuttle in each roof between dividing walls fitted up
with step ladders giving access to the roof.'? Wharf
construction was similarly exempt from the ban on
wood in the Boston building regulations.

If these buildings had a greater superficial area than
3,200 square feet, they were to have walls of brick at
least 8 inches thick dividing the woodwork throughout
and bonded with exterior brick casing. The walls had
to extend from the foundation to 12 inches above the
roof, “and be capped with stone or metal, properly
secured.”"

Exact specifications regarding the size of studding,
posts, beams, and joists were explained in the amend-
ment. Sills, lintels, and caps were to be of stone, iron,
or other non-combustible material, and again, all ex-
terior woodwork, “excepting the usual margin of win-
dow frames and sashes,” was to be covered with
galvanized iron or other non-combustible material."

The traditional wooden attachments and wall and
roof coverings that characterized the city’s pre-fire
architecture were targeted in the new building regula-
tions. These included cornices, window finishes, dor-
mers, sky-lights, scuttles, cupolas, steeples, and roofs.
According to the post-fire laws, these had now to be
covered with a non-combustible material, such as
iron, slate, metal, or gravel. Terra cotta became a
popular substitute during the post-fire period. In con-
trast, the 1872 building law had allowed all of the
steeples, cupolas and spires of public buildings to be
covered with boards or shingles."* Compare, for exam-
ple, pre- and post-fire views of King Street, figures 76
and 79; Market Square, figures 88 and 33; and Trinity
Church, figures 102 and 38.

Wooden shingles, which covered many roofs in Saint
John, were considered to be the major cause of uncon-
trollable fires across North America as late as the
1920s." A week after the Saint John fire, the Daily
News described this serious hazard:

On Wednesday the wind carried flakes of fire, burn-
ing fragments of shingles and laths, all over the south
part of the city, and these wind-borne messengers of
ruin ignited shingle roofs and pine cornices from
Canterbury Street to the barracks. The least that can
be done in the way of restriction is the prohibition of
roofs that will take fire from sparks."”

10

“Even the most ardent advocate of wood”, com-
mented the Daily News, “will not, probably, object to
arestriction of this kind”."

Representatives of the insurance companies exercised
an important role in designing the new legislation.
While the new law was being drafted, they stipulated
that cornices be constructed of metal, stone, or brick.
Wooden, boxed, or hollow cornices could provide
shelter for rats and mice while, “in the case of fire in
an adjoining building, they serve ... to conceal the
creeping of flame to the roof timbers.”"” The safer
construction of skylights required by the new building
code had been another post-fire recommendation by
the insurance companies. They requested that sky-
lights be iron-framed, with pounded glass at least one
inch thick. The Globe described the dangerous charac-
ter of skylights constructed in pre-fire days:

No more faulty construction exists than that of whole
rows of brick buildings, each with a large skylight
with wooden frame and thin glass immediately over a
well-hole through the floors. . .. Buildings con-
structed in this manner have all the qualities of a
furnace, their contents furnishing the fuel.

The new legislation demanded that fire walls be built
within larger buildings, and within long ranges of
buildings, so that fire might be more easily trapped, or
its path checked. As a result, after 1877 no wooden
building higher than 25 feet above the level of the
street or basement, and which adjoined or was within
three feet of another building, could be erected with-
out the construction of an intervening brick wall eight
inches thick and extending six inches above the roof.
If both buildings were constructed of wood, the own-
ers were expected to share the cost of the wall. If an
owner put up a brick building more than 30 feet above
street level, he would be entitled to the same contribu-
tion from the owner of adjacent wooden buildings.*

Wooden buildings rising more than 25 feet above the
level of the street (or above the basement) could not be
built in a range more than 40 feet long, without the
intervention of one brick wall constructed (as above
concerning sharing of costs) for every 40 feet in the
length of the range, and extending six inches above the
roof. If the building was for manufacturing purposes
however, the inspector could allow the intervening
brick walls to be erected at a distance not greater than
60 feet from each other or from the end of the build-
ing.*

Once the act was passed, none of the buildings on the
eastern side of the harbour could be roofed with shin-
gles, but the facade of a mansard or French roof could
be shingled, provided that the shingles were kept prop-
erly painted as required by the inspector of buildings.*
No wooden buildings already standing within any of
the three fire district limits could be raised, enlarged or
heightened beyond the stated limits of that district.



Nor could these buildings be removed from one lot to
another within any of the fire districts.

If the provisions of the act were violated, the offend-
ing building would be declared a “public nuisance.”*
The penalty for such a violation was a maximum fine
of 20 dollars, and not less than ten dollars per day for
each day during which the “nuisance” continued.*
When it is considered that a labourer’s daily wages
then paid by the government in Saint John was $1.40,
an impressive amount for the time, it will be apparent
that this was indeed a substantial fine.

In February, 1878, the common council had the acts
and laws printed, together with additional pamphlets
containing the “Fire Districts Law”, the “Building
Law”, and by-laws. The pamphlets sold for ten cents
each.” With the support of the newspapers, the insur-
ance companies, and conscientious advocates for a
fire-proof city, Saint John acquired a strict building
code which eliminated many of the hazards of the
city’s earlier architecture. When the Globe had pub-
lished suggestions from insurance agents concerning
“Fires, Their Causes, Prevention and Extinction,” in
August of 1877, it was pointed out that one of the
hazards in an older or fast-growing city was the neces-
sary adaptation of buildings for purposes other than
originally intended. In an expanding city such as Saint
John had been, the character of certain streets had
often changed dramatically to accommodate commer-
cial growth. It was not uncommon to convert existing
dwellings into warehouses for the storage of heavy
goods. Floors overloaded with “barrels of high wines,
liquors, saltmeats, and other heavy merchandize, be-
ing frequently tiered up to the ceiling,” were likely to
collapse. “If such a floor should give way, a stove
being nearly always in the room, a fire would inevita-
bly result,” warned the Globe.” In the Great Fire,
buildings erected since the early settlement of the city,
subject to few regulations and restrictions, had been
swept away, and their replacement was about to com-
mence on the basis of a set of solid fire laws.

Regulation

To accompany the 1877 building law, an act for the
inspection of buildings was also passed on 5 Septem-
ber 1877. Entitled “The Saint John Building Act,
1877, its purpose was to regulate the construction of
buildings in Saint John, to provide for their inspec-
tion, and to penalize uncooperative builders.*

Insofar as penalties were concerned, the difference
between the post-fire regulations and the related sec-
tion in the building act of 1872 was minimal, except
that the amendment of 1877 incorporated the appoint-
ment of a building inspector. Although penalties and
charges for “public nuisances’ were handled similarly
in the provisions of both the 1872 act and the 1877
amendment, a formal system for the inspection of
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buildings was not established until 1877. In 1872, a
public nuisance could be declared through traditional
legal channels, but only “on information or complaint
of any rate-payer in the said City.”* By 1877, the need
for a more efficient method of control over building
was recognized. This was evident both in the degree of
detail written into the amendment and in the provision
for a building inspector.

M.W. Maher was appointed to the newly established
post on 10 September 1877." As alderman for Kings
Ward prior to this appointment, Maher had been a
strong supporter of a strict building act. In recording
the events at a meeting of the common council where
the new laws were being drafted, the Telegraph re-
ported:

Ald. Maher argued for a stringent fire law, and gave
as his opinion that it was better for the poor man in
the end to build of non-combustible material. He
even thought a more severe one than had been made
up should be prepared, and hoped the good sense of
the citizens would see it in the same light."

The inspector selected by Common Council was to be
‘““an able and experienced Master builder” and during
his tenure, he was not to be employed or engaged in
any other vocation, ‘“or be interested in any contract
or contracts for building or for furnishing materi-
als.”®

For the first three years of his appointment, the in-
spector’s salary was set at $1200, paid from the city’s
general revenue fund. Three years after the passage of
the bill, the salary was reduced to $1,000 per year.”
The reduction in the building inspector’s salary pre-
sumably anticipated the decrease in the volume of
building and consequently the inspector’s responsibil-
ities once the burnt district of the city had been recon-
structed. This estimate proved accurate. In fact, by
1879 building activity in the city had decreased signifi-
cantly, although this may also have been evidence of a
cooling enthusiasm for the enforcement of the regula-
tions, as the memory of the fire faded.

The inspector was responsible for signing all certifi-
cates and notices issued under the new building act. In
addition to the preparation of detailed annual reports
of the transactions of his office™, he was also required
to submit reports to Common Council upon request.*
No construction or alteration could be undertaken
without first obtaining a permit from the inspector,
who could also require that plans of the proposed
erection, alterations or repairs be submitted for in-
spection before issuing the permit.*

If a building under construction was cited as unsafe or
dangerous, the supreme court or any justice was au-
thorized to issue an injunction restraining further
work until the case had been investigated and a course
of action decided upon. If the inspector found that a



building was especially dangerous to members of the
fire department or citizens in case of fire, because of
“insufficient stairways or insufficient thickness of
walls, overloaded floors, defective construction, or
other causes,” he could have an injunction served."

The duties of the inspector included the examination
of all of the dwelling houses in the city which were
occupied by two or more families on any of the floors
above the second from street level. He also had to
inspect any building used for a hotel, boarding house,
factory, mill, apartment house, or for offices or work-
shops, in which persons were employed in any of the
storeys above the second.®™ Public gathering places
such as churches, theatres, halls, or other structures
used permanently or even temporarily for public pur-
poses (e.g., school houses) also required proper fire
exits. Penalties for continued neglect ranged from ten
to fifty dollars.”

The inspection of buildings symbolized a marked
change in the public attitude to fire prevention and
safety. Prior to 1877 there does not appear to have
been a formal system of inspection with which to
enforce building regulations.® In 1877, however, the
scale of rebuilding, the keen detail of the new act, the
vested interests of the insurance companies, the con-
cern of each building owner that neighbouring houses
not be a fire hazard, as well as the initiative and
experience of Maher, gave the inspector’s office con-
siderable power.

The Telegraph followed closely all aspects of construc-
tion activity and transmitted this information in detail
to the public. On one occasion the gas company and
the trustees of the Centenary Church, one of the larg-
est churches in the city, had violated the building code
by not applying for permits and submitting plans to
the inspector. They were reported in police court,
whereupon they promised to alter their buildings ac-
cording to the requirements of the law." The Tele-
graph article emphasized the cooperation between the
police and the building inspector: “the magistrate
wishes it to be known that he will aid Mr. Maher, to the
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fullest extent of his power, to carry out the law, and
will impose the highest penalty the law allows, on
those who are convicted of a violation of the law.”*

The inspector’s position was not without its personal
hazards, as Mr. Maher discovered in October 1877, a
month after he assumed his duties. Upon informing
the contractor of a building on Brittain Street that one
of the walls was not put up properly, Maher was
promptly assaulted by two men working on the pro-
ject.® It took some effort for those rebuilding in Saint
John to adapt to the new laws: by 1 December 1877,
95 builders had been reported at the police office for
failing to procure even the necessary street permits.*

Two other cases which came before the court in 1877
involved construction on Princess Street. In one of
these, a wooden building was found to be higher than
the building law allowed, which was “no greater than
twenty-four feet and flat roof.”* On 18 August 1877,
the Telegraph recorded “The First Complaint for Vio-
lating the Building Law Since the Fire.”* The struc-
ture was owned by John E. Ganong, who was charged
with building a house 40 feet high, of combustible
material, within the fire district. Although he argued
that brick-cased buildings (wood-supported and en-
cased with brick) such as his own had been erected in
the area since the 1872 act, Ganong was found guilty
and fined 20 dollars. Another article on the Ganong
case records the subsequent attempts of the city au-
thorities to secure an injunction on Ganong’s house
from the equity court, on the strength of affidavits
from the city engineer and the chief engineer of the fire
department.” The judgement of the court was later
published in full by the 7élegraph for the public’s
information and education.*

Because the new laws were enforced with the threat of
heavy fines and possible jail sentences (although no
instance of the latter was recorded), the buildings of
this period considerably out-classed their predecessors
in terms of fire safety. Much of this is attributable to
the fire scare which encouraged the observation of
strong regulations in building construction.
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2. Artist's depiction of King Street, looking toward the harbour
Frank Leslie’s Illustrated News, Supplement (New York: 7 July 1877)

“... an oasis of wood in this desert
of ashes .... the meanest public
edifice in the city, a mere wreck of
decaying wood.”

Daily News, 6 July 1877

3. Sketch of the Marine Hospital, the sole building left on St. James Street
Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum
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“Oh the terrors and suffering of weak women and tender
children during the night succeeding that never to be for-
gotten day. It made my blood curdle to witness some of
their sufferings. Hundreds stood in the open air without
food or shelter during that awful night, and even as I
write, numbers are huddled together in the houses of
friends, in tents and in such other places of shelter as they
have been able to secure.”

W.F. Bunting to Stephen Bunting 8 July 1877
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4. Refugees at the water's edge
Frank Leslie’s lllustrated News, Supplement (New York: 7 July 1877)
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5. Burnt district, showing gas house chimney and smoking ruins, taken from Lower Cove
G.F. Simonson photo, courtesy of PANB, P7/105
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6. Germain Street and Victoria Hotel, looking toward Saint John Stone Church, ¢. 1875
J.McClure & Co. photo, courtesy of National Archives of Canada, PA 103127

7. Germain Street ruins
J. McClure & Co. photo, courtesy of the National Archives of Canada, PA 103135
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8. Queen Square as it appeared before the fire
Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum

9. Queen Square in ruins
Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum
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11. Pre-fire view of the old customs house, built in 1842
Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum

10. Ruins of Germain Street Baptist Church
From a sketch by artist John C. Miles, courtesy of the
New Brunswick Museum

“The Custom House is a sorry spectacle, a sad
commentary on the public faith in brick and stone
and slate. The walls, to the height of about one
storey, are standing, and the terrible penetrative
and disintegrative power of the fierce heat gener-
ated by the combustion of the oils, liquors and
naval stores within, is shown by the splintered and
crumbling granite walls. They look like rotten
wood.”

DailyNews, 6July 1877

12. Customs house ruins
Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum
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13. Inside the Savings Bank after the fire 14. Pre-fire view of Prince William Street, showing the Bank of
G.F. Simonson photo, courtesy of PANB, P7/106 Montreal (on left) and the Maritime Bank
Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum

15. Post office, built in 1876, with Bank of New Brunswick on left 16. The post office in ruins
Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum
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17. Map showing the razed section of the City and the building districts established after the fire (boundaries superimposed by author). George Stewart, The Great

Fire in St. John, N.B. (Toronto: Belford Bros., 1877, reprinted in 1980 by Non-Entity Press, Woodstock, N.B.)
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18. Provisioning the refugees in Barrack Square

Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum



19. Encampment of the 97th Regiment in King Square after the fire
Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum

.

S G TR A S MAY e T T

1=

N g

el B

21 & 22. Temporary business accommodations in Shanty Town, King Square

“With commendable enterprise, many of the mer-
chants who were burned out, and could not secure
premises in which to carry on their business, by
permission of the authorities, erected shanties on
King and Market Squares, which they promise to
pull down before the first of May, 1878. The city
now looks quite primitive. Turn where you will,

shanties of various sizes and styles meet the eye.”

George Stewart,
The Story of the Great Fire ...

THENETTRE -

Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum
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20. Map of Shanty Town in King Square, soon after the fire
Courtesy of the New Brunswick Museum
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Rebuilding the City

Progress of Reconstruction, 1877-1881

Immediately after the fire, large numbers of shanties
were erected in the public squares, forming small com-
munities. At the Barrack grounds and at the east end
of Main Street, shelters were hastily constructed out
of boards and old fences found in the vicinity and
picked from the ruins. Cooking stoves marked the
entrances of the shanties.' Private homes, tents, and
even an old horse car also provided temporary accom-
modation for the homeless (figs. 18 & 19). Merchants
carried on their businesses in makeshift huts in King
Square (figs. 20-22). By September 1877, 120 families
were living in the shanties erected by the Relief Associ-
ation in Barrack Square.’ The community was named
“Murphy Town,” after the superintendent of the
work, N. Murphy.’ About 200 people were still living
at Queen Square in August 1877.* However, by mid-
1878, as homes and business houses were rebuilt, most
of the shanties had been auctioned and removed.

After the experience of the Great Fire, the value of
unencumbered open spaces such as the squares and
wider streets was more fully appreciated. As a precau-
tion against the spread of future fires, many of the
formerly narrow, congested streets were widened and
straightened, as in the case of Dock, Union and Can-
terbury streets. Squares and better streets facilitated
fire-fighting by providing a ““break” or “pause” in the
path of fires, and the squares had served as temporary
shelter to inhabitants fleeing with their goods from
their burning homes.

In May of 1878, as the shanties were disappearing
from the public squares, the 7Telegraph described the
importance of maintaining these open spaces both
from a sanitary point of view and as an enhancement
to the physical beauty of the city. Some years previous,
many citizens had suggested King Square as an ideal
location for a large city hall (see sketch of King
Square, ca. 1851, fig. 23). Others preferred running
King Street through the square and cutting up the
remaining land into building lots, “which would bring
large sums of money.”* Both King (fig. 24) and Queen
squares have nevertheless been retained as recrea-
tional spaces. The Great Fire might be said to have
saved them from enterprising commercial interests by
creating a situation in which a large portion of the
overcrowded city had to be replanned and rebuilt all at
once. As well, with the more sophisticated construc-
tion techniques and innovative designs of the 1870s, it
was possible to increase accommodation on pre-fire
lots through vertical rather than lateral expansion.
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The reconstruction of the city took less time than
many had expected. Most of the properties were re-
built with Saint John money. Besides putting a large
part of the $6,800,000 obtained from the insurance
companies “into brick and mortar,” private individ-
uals are reported to have borrowed $1,752,744 on
mortgages for building purposes. Except for
$246,000, all of the latter amount was obtained from
within the province.’

Only three months after the Great Fire, about 700
buildings were already under construction in the burnt
area. About three hundred (counting each store as one
building) of these were brick and about four hundred
were constructed of wood.* A third of the wooden
buildings were merely ells or small buildings occupy-
ing the rear of lots. The other wooden buildings were
described generally as being two or three storeys high
with flat gravel roofs, in accordance with the new
building regulations, and “better than those which
were burnt.”” At this time extensive rebuilding activity
was also concentrated in the central business district.
Nearly the whole west side of Dock Street was already
built up; construction on the South Market Wharf had
begun; and Water, Prince William and King streets
and the North Wharf had “imposing ranges of brick
buildings” under construction."

Within one year, approximately eight hundred and
forty-two permanent buildings had been built or were
in the course of construction.'" About three hundred
and thirty-eight of these—fewer than half—were con-
structed of brick (including stone or brick-cased build-
ings)."” Over four million dollars had been spent on
buildings in the burnt district by the first anniversary
of the fire."

Construction activity was most pronounced (with
more than forty buildings under construction) along
Queen, St. James, Brittain, Prince William, Germain,
Charlotte, Carmarthen, Duke and Princess streets. In
compliance with the new building regulations, brick
predominated in this area. Of the forty-four buildings
going up on Prince William Street, about thirty-nine
were constructed of brick, for a total cost of $600,000,
the maximum spent on buildings on any street in the
city at the time."

The new Prince William streetscape included major
banks, for example, the Bank of Nova Scotia, which
was completed in this year. Also located there were
large business establishments, insurance company of-
fices, and later, the post office, city hall, and — the
epitome of local architectural flamboyance — the cus-



toms house. On King Street, the main street in the city
and referred to as the “Broadway” of Saint John,
thirty-one brick buildings, mostly retail stores and
offices, worth $450,000 were going up; only four
buildings of wood had been constructed along this
street in the first year following the fire."* On Dock
Street, nineteen brick buildings valued at $218,000
were under construction by June 1878. Close to the
wharves and warehouses, the street had no wooden
buildings at all.'

By the second anniversary of the fire, an additional 91
brick buildings had been erected, bringing the two-
year total to 429. Similarly, wooden buildings had
increased by 141, making a total of 646 (see Table 3)."
Only two years after the fire, observers were express-
ing fears of “overbuilding”. For example, only six
hundred shops were estimated to have burned, as
compared with the 724 shops that had been built to
replace them by June 1879." The Telegraph com-
mented that “certainly if but 600 were burned down,
as had generally been stated, those that now exist
much more than replace them.” The newspaper re-
ported that already many believed “that the work of
erecting business establishments [had] been rather
overdone.”"

The same was true of residential construction. After
only two years, there was nearly as much accommoda-
tion in the burnt district as there had been before the
fire. As many as 1491 residences, located in 1075
buildings, had been built in the burnt district by June
1878. Other residences had been built elsewhere in the
city and in Portland. An estimated 1600 or more
buildings had been destroyed, but this figure included
many public as well as private buildings. Many of the
latter were described as “extremely inferior” to those
which replaced them.*

The second year of rebuilding marked the completion
and occupancy of the Bank of New Brunswick on
Prince William Street, as well as Mr. Domville’s brick
building in which the Bank of Montreal and the Mari-
time Bank were housed. The Savings Bank was also
completed in 1878.*' Most of the churches had been
rebuilt, or were nearing completion. The Reformed
Presbyterian Church, St. David’s and St. Andrew’s
churches, the Germain Street Baptist Church and the
Leinster Street Baptist Church had all been com-
pleted. Construction on St. James’ Church, Queen
Square Methodist Church and the Reformed Episco-
pal Church was also completed by the second anniver-
sary of the fire. The Centenary Church was still in
progress, and the Trinity Church congregation had
just laid the foundations of their large church.* All of
the churches completed or under construction by Oc-
tober 1878 were estimated to cost not less than
$400,000, “an immense sum considering the large pri-
vate losses which the people who have to erect these
churches met with in consequence of the fire.”* Other
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public buildings constructed by this time included the
Victoria and Madras schools, St. Malachey’s Hall, St.
Joseph’s School, the police office, the new city hall,
the ferry building, Wiggin’s Orphan Institution, and
the home for the aged.

By 1881, most of the buildings had been completed
(see Tables 4 & 5). By 1880, the city’s shops and dwell-
ings had practically been rebuilt, and by June 1881 the
same was true of its public buildings. The customs
house and the post office, both begun by the start of
1878, were completed and occupied by June 1881. All
of the churches destroyed by the fire had also been
rebuilt, on a much larger and grander scale than those
they replaced, except the Centenary which was still
under construction, and which promised to be a con-
siderable improvement on its predecessor.*

The tapering off of construction activity is clearly
demonstrated in a comparison of building statistics
reported by the 7elegraph for the years 1878, 1879,
1880 and 1881 (Tables 2-5). For example, by June
1878, exactly one year after the fire, of the 842 build-
ings which had been completed, 338 were constructed
of brick and 504 of wood.* The second anniversary of
the fire marked the completion of only 133 buildings
containing 91 shops or dwellings of brick and 142 of
wood. Between June of 1879 and 1881, only 56 addi-
tional buildings had been erected; these comprised 23
shops or dwellings of brick and 33 of wood.* In all,
the Telegraph estimated that over the four years of
reconstruction 1131 buildings had been erected in the
burnt area.” Of these, 452 were brick buildings which
contained 359 dwellings and 475 stores. The wooden
buildings numbered 679 and contained a total of 1193
dwellings and 240 stores. The total expenditure was
estimated at $6,500,000, of which $5,400,000 was at-
tributed to the construction of private buildings,
dwellings and stores, and $1,100,000 to public build-
ings, banks and churches,* — a large sum for the city
to spend on buildings in four years!

The Buildings

In August 1872 the Telegraph reprinted a description
of Saint John, as seen through the eyes of the editor of
the Boston Gazette, who had recently visited the city:

Neither the public nor private buildings, with the
exception of the Victoria Hotel, claim much merit for
architecture, but their arrangement and convenience
illustrate the character of the people, dignified with-
out pretension and substantial without pride or
show.

The Victoria Hotel (figs. 25 & 26), built in approxi-
mately 1872 at the corner of Germain and Duke
streets, was a square brick modestly Italianate build-
ing covered with mastic. Measuring five storeys high
above the basement, it accommodated three hundred
guests. Another American writer, Bayard Taylor of



the New York Tribune, described the city’s architec-
ture in 1876 as follows:

St. John has a thoroughly English stamp; even its
smell is not that of an American town. The dark
buildings of smoky brick, the plainness of the archi-
tecture, the unobtrusive character of the signs, and
the sober aspect of the shop windows, and the deliber-
ate movement of the people in the streets, proclaim
another nationality, before you notice the English
colors on the flag-staffs.™

In contrast, most of the buildings of the reconstruc-
tion period, particularly those of a commercial or
public nature, were described as substantial, massive,
solid, elegant and economical. The G/obe depicted the
altered appearance of the city just one year after the
fire:

The new private edifices are superior as a whole to
those they have replaced; the stores are much better;
there are better business offices, more rooms for
purposes of societies and organizations; the bank
buildings, and similar edifices, will far outstrip those
that they replace, while the churches will show a vast
degree of improvement, and will be well calculated to
secure the comfort while they stimulate the religious
fervour of the worshippers."

In addition to the increased scale and variety of styles,
the detail and trim of the new buildings was exception-
ally diverse. New materials and techniques just then
coming in to use, such as plate glass, gas lights, hy-
draulic elevators, telephones and central heating also
contributed to a new architectural image. Commercial
and business buildings especially gain their distinc-
tively post-fire character from these factors.

Commercial and Public Buildings

For the purposes of this study, the term ‘“commercial
buildings” generally refers to office structures, banks,
or retail shops. Buildings erected under the direction
of the federal, provincial or city governments are re-
ferred to as “public buildings.” Schools, opera houses
and other similar institutions are not considered in any
detail, except insofar as they might form part of a
streetscape.

The new commercial and public buildings were far
more commodious and had more elegant interiors
than those they replaced. One important effect of the
improvements in the interior layout of the new build-
ings was “to enable the whole ordinary business of the
city to be done in less space than heretofore. That is, a
given space of ground affords more offices, and even
more stores than formerly; and there results from this
acheck upon the rebuilding on lots that before the fire
seemed to be very choice ones.”*

According to the Globe, although the city had
changed in terms of the general solidity in the outward
appearance of the business buildings, it was the inte-
rior of most of them that showed marked improve-
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ment. The Globe described these innovations as
follows:

. . .the interior of most of them shows far more
improvement than the exterior. In the laying out of
rooms much extra space has been gained, steam heat-
ing has been adopted in places in which it was never
thought of before, elevators and other trade fittings
and conveniences have been introduced, and in every
way the foundations have been laid for placing the
business of St. John upon a better basis than they
were ever upon before."

A comparison of photographs of streetscapes, taken
before and after the fire, gives a general impression of
the dramatic change in the architecture of the public
and commercial buildings. The evolution of both King
and Germain streets well illustrate this transition. Pre-
fire views of King Street (figs. 27 & 28) show an
unevenness among the buildings, many of them with
highly flammable clapboard exteriors, shingled roofs
and skylights. Compared with the post-fire appear-
ance of the street (figs. 29 & 30), they demonstrate the
result of the gradual accumulation of structures over
nearly a century, with various additions and somewhat
incongruous attachments. The post-fire views show
larger, more substantial and certainly more sophisti-
cated and fireproof structures. A more homogeneous
and less “sprawling” effect was achieved by building
in co-operative blocks, and the new buildings were
considerably taller and more efficient. A pre-fire view
of Gordon House, on King Street (fig. 31), with the
Colonial Bookstore next to it (later replaced by a brick
building before the fire, in the 1860s, fig. 32) aptly
demonstrates the aesthetic and practical problem of
pushing the familiar, traditional Maritime Georgian
theme to its limits. Outgrown, the building appears
bulky and ungraceful. The same is true of the Colonial
Bookstore. The pre-fire replacement of the bookstore
is an improvement, and although it is less streamlined
than the buildings of the reconstruction period, its
style suggests that of the later buildings.

In a similar manner, a pre-fire view of Germain Street
(figs. 6 & 33) suggests a lack of long-range planning,
and a similarity among the plain, symmetrical and
blocky buildings that borders on dullness. Post-fire
views (e.g., fig. 34), however, appear to have scheme,
order, rhythm, regularity and uniformity of composi-
tion. The same contrast is observable in pre- and post-
fire views of Prince William Street (compare figs. 15,
35 with fig. 36).

Large-scale Italianate buildings such as the Victoria
Hotel and T.H. Hall’s Bookstore were being built in
Saint John during the decade before 1877. They were
certainly larger than the neo-classical buildings they
replaced, but their restrained decoration and rela-
tively flat, plain outer walls link both stylistic types.
The commercial buildings erected after the Great Fire
were designed in a variety of styles then popular in
other parts of Canada, the United States and Britain.



They included the Romanesque, Italianate, Renais-
sance, with classical elements, and Second Empire,
which was the architectural hallmark of the 1870s in
both Canadian and American urban centres. One of
the practical assets of the Second Empire style was the
mansard roof which allowed owners to make use of
the top storey, well lighted with dormer windows. The
flat, as opposed to the gable roof common in the pre-
fire era, also provided a full upper storey. Commer-
cial, public and other structures of the rebuilding
period show more dynamically detailed facades than
the general pre-fire architecture of the city. New
rhythms in architectural line and texture, varied wall
treatment, and generally that sculptural interplay of
light and shadow—not only within the single building
but shared by homogenous blocks—created a brand
new image.

During the rebuilding, property owners generally
agreed to erect their buildings in uniform blocks, a
trend applauded by the insurance companies. By 5§
July 1877, less than three weeks after the fire, several
meetings had been held by owners of property in the
business district and the erection of such blocks dis-
cussed. The Telegraph reported that the new business
blocks of Saint John would probably ‘“combine ele-
gance and solidity with economy, and, while we shall
probably have no structure comparable to the Com-
mercial Palace we shall have a much higher average of
excellence than in the old city.”*

King Street and Market Square

The owners of property on the north side of Market
Square agreed to build a uniform block of buildings
which would “be a credit and ornament to the city”
(fig. 37).* The earlier block was plain and the resem-
blance among the pre-fire buildings was their modest
simplicity (fig. 38). The new block had a frontage of
160 feet on Market Square. On each end was a pavil-
ion building four storeys high. The front consisted of
ornamental pressed brick in three colours: black,
white and red. The centre building was flat-roofed,
surmounted by a balustrade and cresting, and the
buildings on either side had slate mansard roofs. The
clock tower on the roof of the centre building, Shef-
field House, emphasized the symmetry and height of
the block. The cornices of the buildings were con-
structed of galvanized iron and brick, as required by
the new building act. On the ground floor, the shop
fronts were supported by iron columns with arches
sprung between them to support the superstructure.
The architects, Smith and Dunn, had designed the
block “to be fireproof, as nearly as it can be made.”*

London House, Daniel and Boyd’s new establish-
ment, attached to Sheffield House, was described as
one of the most substantial warehouses in the city. It
was constructed of rough-hewn Caledonia freestone.
Like many of its contemporaries, the building was
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fitted with an hydraulic elevator. Of this building the
Telegraph remarked:

We have been told by visitors from other places that
this in its entirety is one of the most thorough in the
Dominion and admirably adapted to a general whole-
sale business. It has been built with an eye to strength
and durability and all done by day’s work."

Similarly, property owners on King Street replaced
their pre-fire business houses with homogeneous
blocks (figs. 29 & 30). The Commercial Block (figs. 29
& 94), completed early in the reconstruction period,
was a collection of retail stores and offices with ware-
house space above. Larger than most post-fire com-
mercial structures in the city, the block was
constructed of brick. Locals were intrigued by the
versatility of non-traditional building materials as
demonstrated in the fagade by the window surrounds,
string courses, and cornices of projecting brick or
brick relief. In general, the new stores and principal
commercial buildings were much taller than their
predecessors. The 7elegraph considered that none of
them was “too high for convenience, while height
gives them a certain style and character that a low
building never exhibits.”** The interiors of the units in
the Commercial Block were “fully equipped with all
modern appliances, such as hydraulic hoists, fire-
proof vaults, etc., etc., making it one of the finest and
most desirable blocks in the city.”*

Other commercial buildings erected on King Street
included Logan and Lindsay’s grocery store, James
Manson’s department store (‘“The Palace’’) and Blan-
chard’s fancy goods store. Just before the fire, James
Manson had built “The Palace” on King Street. He
rebuilt on the same site, and his new establishment
(fig. 39) was open for business by December 1877, six
months after the fire.* Although the front of the new
building was not as imposing as the one it replaced, the
interior layout was an improvement. The main store
measured 25 by 100 feet. The two front ground floor
windows were each composed of a single plate of glass
16 feet high and 7 feet wide, “the largest plates now in
the city.”*' W.E. Blanchard’s American jewellery, toys
and fancy goods store was a three-storey structure of
brick and stone with large street-level display windows
of plate glass.

Logan and Lindsay had rebuilt their grocery by Febru-
ary 1878. “Except for the matter of the site there is
nothing in common between the old store and the new
one,” the Telegraph informed readers. The old store
was too limited for the growing business of the firm;
the Telegraph suggested that the new one was proba-
bly the handsomest grocery east of Montreal and was
well designed to accommodate all aspects of the busi-
ness. The new store consisted of four storeys and was
divided into two sections, the lower west section mea-
suring 100 by 20 feet, the upper east section 90 by 20
feet. The east section was devoted to the wholesale



business and was fitted up with suitable offices. An
hydraulic elevator 5 feet square communicated with
the upper storeys, and a single hoist served a like
purpose for the retail store alone. On the second flat
were a sample room for testing teas, rooms for the
storage of tea, canned goods and miscellaneous gro-
ceries. The third floor was reserved for the storage of
goods, while the fourth accommodated a bonded
warehouse, rooms for roasting and grinding coffee
and the elevator landing. The retail store contained
200 square feet of space.*

Prince William Street

Traditionally referred to as the “Wall Street of St.
John” in the nineteenth century, Prince William Street
was lined with major banks, business houses, public
buildings, newspaper offices, small shops and dry
goods stores. In terms of people, goods and variety of
commercial activity, it was the busiest street in the city.
By the time of the Great Fire, the dry goods and other
stores had begun gravitating to Germain Street. Fi-
nancial institutions, office and public administration
buildings took the place of these busy shops (fig. 36).
The need for a full-scale reconstruction of the street
after the fire resulted in an equally sudden fulfillment
of this pre-fire “trend.” This transition occurred in an
era when clothing was handmade, requiring volumi-
nous quantities of cloth and trim, and it is not surpris-
ing that the local press expressed concern over this
considerable loss of pedestrian traffic and trade in the
area. The editor of the Globe feared that the logical
result would be for publishers, brokers, insurance
agents, bankers, lawyers and wholesale dealers to gain
the monopoly of Prince William Street’s business.*

Indeed this did happen. Although two popular busi-
nesses, Jardine and Co., grocers, and J. and A. Mc-
Millan, booksellers, stationers and printers
re-established themselves on Prince William Street, it
was speculated that these two firms would not be able
to check the trend, and that they would be lucky to
“hold their own.”* The post office (fig. 40, still stand-
ing) would be rebuilt on this street, but its method of
operation had been modernized, and it was therefore
unlikely to attract much of the general public to the
area, as it had in the past. During this period, the
services of the post office were being decentralized,
and the main building was about to become less of a
gathering place for the collection of stamps or mail.
The pre-fire postal service, with its centralized opera-
tion on Prince William Street, had been a distinct
advantage to adjacent businesses:

The Post Office must do something towards assisting
them [J. & A. McMillan and Jardine & Co.]; but the
tendency of the time is not to increase calls at the Post
Office as rapidly as they increased before stamps
could be purchased at almost any store in town,
before there was a free delivery of letters, before
letters could be posted at street corners.*
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Three major public buildings were built on Prince
William Street. Besides the post office, these included
the city hall and the magnificent customs house (which
was destroyed in 1961). City Hall was built at the
corner of Prince William and Princess streets; before
the fire, the city offices had been located in a building
on the same site, which had been erected by the Corpo-
ration of the Commercial Bank of New Brunswick for
its banking house. It was later purchased and con-
verted by the city. The new building (fig. 41) was three
storeys high with mansard roof and constructed of
brick and stone for $40,000. The facade was 58 feet
wide along Prince William Street and 46.5 feet deep
along Princess Street. The front was constructed of
freestone from the New Brunswick Freestone Compa-
ny’s quarry in Albert County,* on low bases of gran-
ite. More commaodious than its predecessor, the new
building also provided for future expansion; in the
interim, some spare rooms were rented to local organi-
zations such as the Tilly Lodge."

The customs house (fig. 42) was also rebuilt on its old
site at the south end of Prince William Street. A
Second Empire structure constructed of freestone, it
rose three storeys on the Prince William Street facade
and five at the rear on Water Street. Both front and
rear measured 200 feet wide, and the depth of the
structure between the two streets measured 99 feet.
The fagade had three imposing entrances. Judged to
be “a monument of elegance,”* the new building was
not as large as the old customs house (fig. 11) but it
certainly had a more elaborate exterior. The local
press described it as “a free rendering of the classic
style, its four fronts faced with freestone from the
Caledonia Quarry,” and referred to “the striking har-
mony of its proportions and the suggestion of the
French Renassiance style, conveyed by its central
dome.”* The three richly panelled and carved main
doors were described as “massive affairs” of East
India teak. Pilasters with carved capitals adorned the
second and third storey exterior as well as those of the
first storey of the central pavilion. The caps of the
pilasters in the central pavilion consisted of carved
heads representing Europe, Africa, Asia and Amer-
ica. Above the central doorway the keystone carried a
bust of Brittania. The Telegraph reported that the
building gained in “massiveness and solidity” what it
had lost in “carving and ornament,” and was ‘“cer-
tainly very imposing in its aspect.”*

Local supervising architects J.T.C. McKean and
Ernest Fairweather effected major improvements in
the design of the customs house as they prepared the
working drawings. The federal Department of Public
Works had originally intended that the Water Street
portion of the building would be constructed of brick
and that the front only would be of the more costly
freestone. The architects made strong representations
against this course, demonstrating that the Water
Street front would be seen quite as much as the other



and that, viewed from the harbour, it was in fact the
principal front of the building. It was finally decided
that the full exterior of the building should be of
freestone, giving the structure “harmony and unity of
expression which it would not otherwise possess.”*'
The local press boasted that “it was probably the
finest Customs House in America and second to very
few in the world.”* Certainly it was one of the largest
public buildings built in the Second Empire style in
Canada.” To protect the building from fire, it was
disconnected from all structures around it, with a
greater space at the north end to provide a fire break, a
lesson learned from the Great Fire.* Some views of the
building under construction — rare for the period —
were recently found in Department of Public Works
files. Figures 43 and 44 document the progress of
construction to 1879.

Most of the business houses constructed along Prince
William Street during the post-fire reconstruction
were designed in the Italianate or Second Empire
styles, with Romanesque and classical elements. Three
major banks were rebuilt on the street soon after the
fire: the Bank of New Brunswick (fig. 45), situated on
its pre-fire lot next to the post office; the Bank of
Nova Scotia on the opposite side of the street, and the
Savings Bank (fig. 46). Henry Starbuck, formerly of
Boston, designed the new Bank of New Brunswick,
based on its pre-fire appearance (see fig. 15). The
degree of classicism in its design distinguished this
building from its counterparts. The massive columned
front with pediment featuring the coat of arms repre-
sented a simplification or consolidation, on a bolder
scale, of the architectural features of the previous
building, which was erected in the early 1820s. The
Prince William Street facade of the post-fire building
was constructed of the “best” native freestone, in the
Corinthian classical style, with a projecting pediment
supported by six stone columns. The windows of plate
glass represented a late 19th century innovation.*

The Bank of Nova Scotia (fig. 47) was also rebuilt on
its former Prince William Street site, from building
plans prepared by architects Dumaresq and Dewar in
the style of the Second Empire. The building had a
frontage of 38.5 feet with a depth of 50 feet. The lower
storey was constructed of freestone, while the upper
storey consisted of pressed brick, with carved free-
stone trimmings. The two entrance porches had four
massive columns of polished red granite; in between,
three round-arched windows were separated by pol-
ished grey granite columns with elaborate capitals.
The ground floor was occupied entirely by the bank,
with a banking room 28 by 26 feet, a manager’s office,
cloak room, and money and book vaults. The keeper
occupied the whole of the attic.*

The “Wall Street” character of Prince William Street
was further enhanced by Robert Marshall’s Insurance
Block (fig. 48), designed by McKean and Fairweather.
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The impressive structure measured 40 feet along the
Prince William Street front and extended back for 30
feet on Market Square. A typical example of this type
of office building in the area, it was four storeys high
with a flat roof, and a spacious, well lighted basement.
The principal floor, which contained two suites of
offices and the staircase leading to the upper storeys,
was raised 18 inches above the street grade, in order to
give additional height and light for the basement. The
offices on the ground floor, a suite of which was to be
occupied by the proprietor himself, were well lighted
by large shop windows of plate glass. Those on the
principal front were separated by ornamental (rather
than structurally essential) cast iron columns which
carried a series of brick arches, “springing from
carved stone skew-backs, and these with their neatly
molded outer rims will present an agreeable contrast
to the horizontal shop cornices so generally in use.”*

Another typical Prince William Street business loca-
tion was the Bayard Block, built in 1877. The building
had a frontage of 50 feet and a depth of 55 feet. It was
arranged with a high basement and three suites of
offices on the principal floor. Both the basement and
the first floor had large plate glass fronts, like many of
its contemporaries. The second and third storeys con-
tained suites of offices, finished in hardwood. The
front of the building was “richly, but not elaborately”
decorated with iron, polished granite and cut free-
stone. The cornices and other ironwork were brought
out with stencil figures in rich colours. The building
was heated by steam. A restaurant operated by one of
the city’s leading caterers occupied the basement
level.®®

Both Chubb’s Building and John McCoskery’s four-
storey hotel were also built on Prince William Street
during the post-fire rebuilding period. Chubb’s Build-
ing at Chubb’s Corner was described as ‘“Classical in
design, the detail being somewhat Greek in charac-
ter”. Designed by McKean and Fairweather, archi-
tects, the building measured 25.5 feet on Prince
William Street and 55 feet on Princess Street. It stood
six storeys high on Princess Street and four on Prince
William Street. The building contained stores and
offices.*

McCoskery’s hotel fronted on Prince William Street
for 52 feet and extended back 90 feet, with a rear
entrance on Queen Street. The lower storey contained
offices, a barroom, and a ladies’ entrance in the north-
ern end of the front. The hotel contained 68 rooms,
including handsome dining rooms, spacious drawing
rooms, sample rooms for commercial travellers, and
bedroom suites.*®

Although businesses like J. and A. McMillan (fig. 49),
stationers, Jardine and Co., grocers, and Emerson
and Fisher (fig. 50), wholesale and retail dealers in
stoves, furnaces and kitchen furnishings, tended to



rebuild in other parts of the city, these three built large
new business houses on their pre-fire lots that compli-
mented their neighbours. Given the qualms of the
local press over the domination of the street by offices
and financial institutions, it is ironic that many of the
businesses for which the post-fire buildings were
erected have since either moved or become defunct.
But J. and A. McMillan, established in 1822 and still
operating today was expected to be lucky if it could
“hold its own!”’

J. and A. McMillan rebuilt on their old site on Prince
William Street. The four-storey building with a base-
ment and surmounted by a hopper-shaped deck roof
was erected “especially for the requirements of their
book, stationery, binding and printing business”.
Each flat was 32.5 feet by 120 feet deep. The first flat
was 15 feet high and contained their book and station-
ery department. The second, third and fourth flats
were, respectively, 12, 11 and 10 feet high, and the
basement was 8 feet high. A small parcel elevator
connected each flat with the business office and sales-
room. The building was also fitted with speaking
tubes.*

Other Commercial Buildings

Before the fire, the Telegraph itself had for several
years occupied a wooden building on Prince William
Street owned by Walker and Son, opposite the Bank of
New Brunswick on the site of a fine insurance building
since erected by W.M. Jarvis. Like many typical pre-
fire structures, the 7elegraph building had not origi-
nally been intended for a newspaper office, but it had
been adapted by means of repairs, alterations and
additions. This entire establishment was destroyed in
1877. In the fall of 1877, a lot measuring 64 by 38 feet
at the corner of Canterbury and Church streets was
leased for a twenty-one-year term. In consultation
with several department heads of the 7elegraph, the
local architectural firm, McKean and Fairweather,
drew up the plans. The new building (fig. 51), five
storeys high including a basement, completely covered
the lot. The entire structure, with the exception of two
shops, each 18 by 34 feet and two warerooms of the
same size above them, was occupied by the Daily
Telegraph newspaper and job printing establishments.
Constructed of brick with granite and freestone trim it
was described as “a most tasteful structure” which
secured a large amount of accommodation out of the
area at their disposal and was ‘“‘constructed with the
greatest economy.”’*

The appearance of Germain Street (fig. 34), like the
other chief thoroughfares of the city was improved by
the erection of many handsome new buildings during
this period. Dr. Ring’s brick building at the corner of
Germain and Church streets was completed at the end
of 1877. Three storeys high on Germain Street and
four on Church Street, the structure accommodated a
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hall, six stores and offices. On the front of the build-
ing were three groups of plate glass windows, with
three windows in each group. Between each group
were projecting tiers. The window heads had seg-
mented arch heads of stone, and springers and key-
stones of the same material. The front of the building
was decorated with square and diagonal semi-courses.
The entire building was finished with a brick cornice,
and was separated with ornamental cast iron columns.
On the Germain Street front of the first floor were
three large stores. Each store had a uniform width of
13 feet, while the northern and central stores were
respectively 65 and 37 feet deep. The basement con-
tained three stores with an entrance from Church
Street, five other offices and a storeroom.®

Germain Street was one of the streets that particularly
demonstrated the displacement in the traditional lay-
out of businesses. Whole ranges of stores were built on
this street where before there had been none (compare
figs. 6 & 52). Before the fire, the retail trade in the
smaller and fancier wares had tended to gravitate to
Germain Street. After the fire this shift was emphatic.
The attractions of Germain Street were described by
the Globe as early as October 1878: “Its proximity to
the centre of King Street, the fact that it is a level
street, not requiring from ladies the fatigue of uphill
walking, will make it very popular as a promenade,
and we expect to see there a flourishing class of milli-
ners, dry goods and other fancy stores.”*

Churches

Prior to the great fire St. John could not boast much
of the architectural beauty of its churches, for with
three or four exceptions they did little credit to the
taste of those who erected them. Of the eleven places
of worship destroyed on that memorable 20th June,
but one was built of a more durable material than
wood, and most of them were utterly without any
architectural pretensions.*

As for comfort, most of the churches, according to the
Telegraph, “were far from being up to the mark, and
strangers often wondered why the people of St. John,
so enterprising in other respects, permitted themselves
to fall so far behind with respect to the buildings which
they had dedicated to the service of GOD.”%

Like the commercial structures, almost all of the new
churches built in the four years following the fire were
a functional improvement on their predecessors, be-
ing larger, grander, and more comfortable. Most of
them were Gothic in design. The Germain Street Bap-
tist Church (fig. 53), the first to be completed after the
fire (September, 1878), was far superior to the old
edifice. The old church, before the fire considered one
of the most comfortable buildings in the city, was built
of brick and measured 75 by 74 feet. The dimensions
of the new Gothic church, constructed of brick with
freestone trim, were 100 by 65 feet. Beneath the
church were lecture rooms, classrooms, and other



offices connected with the church; the auditorium
above, including the gallery, seated eight hundred peo-
ple (fig. 54). The church cost $40,000.¢

The Germain Street Methodist Church (fig. 595), lo-
cated on the corner of Queen Square and Charlotte
Street (and renamed Queen Square Methodist
Church), was another handsome Gothic structure of
red freestone with trim. The structure measured 60 by
124 feet deep. It replaced a wooden building (fig. 56)
which measured only 42 feet by 80 feet. The new
church seated 750 people and, when the Sunday
school was added, one thousand people.*

The first church to formally lay a foundation stone
was St. David’s Presbyterian (fig. 57) on Sydney
Street. It replaced a wooden structure which measured
60 by 76 feet, with a school house in the rear. The new
church, built of brick with stone dressing, measured
100 by 60 feet, with a large tower giving an additional
frontage to the building of nearly 20 feet. In the lower
storey was a lecture room and school room capable of
seating seven hundred persons, and vestry and other
rooms. The pews in the auditorium were semicircu-
larly arranged with a gallery on three sides; it had a
seating capacity of one thousand. A bell weighing
2,350 pounds was installed and an organ was built by a
Saint John firm — the old church did not have one.
The cost of this building was $40,000.¢

The St. Andrews Presbyterian Church (fig. 58) was
among the largest and most imposing of the church
edifices erected. This emphasized the contrast be-
tween the new and old churches. The old church (fig.
59) was described as ‘‘a shaky, wooden structure,” 50
by 80 feet, with a school room measuring 63 by 20 feet
in the rear. In basic design, it closely resembled the
early pre-fire Trinity Church (figs. 60 & 61). By con-
trast, the new church, built of brick with a stone front
at a cost of $65,000, was 150 by 82 feet wide across the
front and 78 feet wide in the body of the building. The
Sunday school room at the rear measured 72 by 55 feet
and 30 feet high, and was capable of seating 650
people. Also in the rear of the church were the lecture
room which measured 55 by 38 feet, the Young Men’s
Association room, 30 by 36 feet, a session room,
vestry, and Sunday school library. The auditorium was
72 feet by 65 feet and 60 feet high; the pews were
circular in form, and the gallery extended, as in St.
David’s Presbyterian Church, around the church on
three sides. The auditorium seated one thousand peo-
ple. The church had two towers; the lowest measured
88 feet to the summit, the other was surmounted by a
spire, the top of which measured 179 feet from the
ground. The building was heated by steam, with a
radiator in every pew. The organ was built in Boston
and cost $3,500.™

The first church to be commenced and the last to be
completed was the Centenary Queen Square Church
(fig. 62) which replaced a building measuring 62 by 90
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feet. The new church, estimated to cost 80 thousand
dollars, was built on a gigantic scale and accommo-
dated fifteen hundred people (see fig. 63). A school
house, forming the transept of the building, measured
90 by 40 feet. The church was built of limestone, with
the window finish, tracery and trim of artificial stone
made out of cement. The lower part of the school
building was devoted to parlors and classrooms for
church work, while the upper part contained a Sunday
school room capable of seating five or six hundred
people—this was used for public worship until the
church was completed. Its style, like most of the other
churches of this period, was Gothic.™

Two exceptions to the predominance of Gothic
churches being built at this time were Trinity Church
and the Leinster Street Baptist Church. The dimen-
sions of the old wooden Leinster Street Baptist
Church were 45 by 70 feet, whereas its replacement, at
the corner of Leinster and Carmarthen streets, was T-
shaped, with an extreme length of 114 feet and a width
at the front of 60 feet and at the rear of 90 feet. The
auditorium, including a gallery at the end, accommo-
dated seven hundred people. Located at the rear of
this brick and stone structure were the vestry, class-
rooms, pastor’s room, library, baptistry, kitchen and
several fine schoolrooms.” The architects, John
Stevens and Son of Boston, did not strictly follow any
classical design of architecture for this church. They
had aimed rather ‘“to combine such forms as would be
suited to the present age, and the habits, wants and
tastes of the people.”” The outline, that of a headless
cross, and general features, however, were modelled
from the Byzantine period. The building cost
$30,000.™

After considering numerous plans, the vestry of Trin-
ity Church accepted those of W.T. Thomas of Mon-
treal. The old church, which had been more than once
enlarged (figs. 60, 61 & 64), was built of wood, mea-
sured 110 by 56 feet, and had a handsome spire 100
feet high. The new church (figs. 65 & 66), built in the
early English style, was 66 by 155 feet, with a hand-
some cut stone porch in front. The new spire rose 200
feet above the ground. The church had an open-
timber room 52 feet high. Its seating capacity was 780
people, and it cost $40,000. With its lavish appoint-
ments and greater space, the interior of the new
church far surpassed that of its predecessor. A school
house, measuring 80 by 52 feet, was also built on
Charlotte Street, and cost an estimated $16,000.™

Private Buildings

Early documentation, and photographs in particular,
are rare for any but the wealthier class of home,
although obviously many modest structures were built
during the period. Cheaper residences also tended to
have a shorter life span. The new buildings erected by
the wealthier classes were largely concentrated in the
higher parts of the city. On Queen Square (figs. 67 &



68), Carmarthen, Germain (fig. 69), Sydney, Duke,
Orange (fig. 70) and Mecklenburg (fig. 71) streets
were many elegant mansions and palatial residences
“of every variety of architecture.”’ Many, however,
were variations on either Italianate or Second Empire
styles. One house, located on Queen Square, was built
of beautiful ornamented stone, with a mansard eleva-
tion cased with copper plates. The home of one of the
merchant princes of the city, it was said to have cost
“three times the sum of any residence erected in St.
John.””” Caverhill Hall (fig. 72), situated at 134 Syd-
ney Street, the home of Simeon Jones, a brewer and
mayor of Saint John, was also built in this period. Its
design was taken from that of a house Jones and his
wife had admired in Toronto. The plans were prepared
by Mr. Brown, a Toronto architect, and the building
was completed about 1881. This mansion represents
one of the extremities of style indulged in by more
wealthy citizens at this time.

A couple of 1860s buildings on Chipman Hill show the
contrast between the houses of the wealthy before and
after the fire. The Pratt House (fig. 73) and its neigh-
bour at 13 Prince William Street (fig. 74) show the
restrained exteriors of the pre-fire period. The only
flamboyant aspect of the buildings — which is consid-
erable — remains inside, in the form of cornice deco-
rations (fig. 75), general plasterwork, carvings and
wall and ceiling paintings. In contrast, the late-1870s
buildings flaunt the wealth and prosperity of their
owners in a profuse display of exterior decoration. A
comparison of other types of private residences before
and after the fire demonstrates a general movement
from the austere to a more varied and externally deco-
rative style of architecture.

By 1878, a mile of new frame buildings, erected for the
poorer classes and roofed with asphalt and gravel,
stretched from Orange Street to South Harbour.”
While no detailed contemporary photographs of these
buildings are available, they were probably similar to
those constructed in the same period in the vicinity of
present Main street .(see fig. 76). Most of these have
since been destroyed.

Early in the rebuilding period, the 7elegraph described
a new scheme for the construction of brick residences
in blocks much like the commercial buildings or as
duplexes, for people of moderate means. The man-
sard roof, a major feature of the Second Empire style,
was preferred to the traditional pre-fire gable roof,
because of the extra space it provided in the top storey.
The article appeared in July 1877:

The scheme is based on the assumption, which seems
to prevail everywhere but in St. John, that an entire
lot of 40 feet front is not required for an ordinary
house, but that two comfortable houses can be built
on each lot of that frontage. The houses embraced in
the proposed plan are what may be termed brick
cottages, each with a frontage of 20 feet of suitable
depth. They will have a basement story somewhat
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elevated from the street, a first floor and a Mansard
story making three flats available for rooms. The
houses are intended to be set ten feet each from the
street, and there will be a front entrance to the base-
ment under the stoop. . . .[A] a house with the same
accommodation would cost nearly twice as much by
the system of building isolated houses which is usu-
ally adopted.™

There are a number of houses fitting this description
in the residential part of the city today.

Most of the residential buildings erected in this period
were larger than their predecessors. Whether con-
structed of brick or wood, they tended to be either flat
or mansard-roofed. Like other contemporary struc-
tures, they were taller, better lighted, more comfort-
able, and like the public and commercial buildings,
they generally offered more accommodation per
building than was the case before the fire.

The End of the Reconstruction: The Local Press
Reacts

As a result of the full-scale reconstruction, the press
observed certain shifts in population densities in and
around the city. Besides the shift of business from
Prince William to Germain streets, another effect of
the fire had been to cause rapid development in the
districts beyond the fire limits, where building regula-
tions were less rigid and where poorer people could
erect buildings more cheaply. This was somewhat evi-
dent in Carleton, but in Portland, in the vicinity of the
Marsh Bridge along the Dorchester Street extension, it
was particularly apparent. Gaps in many streets were
closed up and building operations, ‘“not indeed of a
superior class of structures,” were being carried on
energetically. The Globe, observing this trend as early
as June 1878, commented that “all that part of the
populated section has been much benefited, not, let us
hope, at the permanent expense of the portion that
suffered by the fire of a year ago.”*

The Saint John Globe commented prophetically 12
months after the fire that:

.. .It would seem as if there were enough buildings,
even though a large portion of Prince William street,
Canterbury street, Water street, and Germain street is
untouched. But as time goes on, when the Custom
House, the Post Office, the Bank of New Brunswick,
the City Buildings are finished, business will find its
way back to its old quarters in those streets, and no
doubt without any serious or permanent injury to the
present activity in the northern and north-eastern
section of the city.”

A common aspect of the majority of the post-fire
buildings was their grander scale. When it is consid-
ered that the population was not rapidly increasing,
and that the number of buildings erected after the fire
outnumbered those destroyed, it is reasonable to spec-
ulate that the city might have overestimated its build-



ing requirements. In 1879 the Telegraph had promoted
the “wise and patriotic course” to rebuild without
delay.® A year later, however, the paper expressed
quite a different view, and described the situation as a
“choice of difficulties”:

If men build too rapidly or too expensively they may
be open to the charge of rashness and extravagance, if
they build mean edifices they may be accused of
thinking of the needs of the present and taking no
thought of the future....To presume a due proportion
between parsimony and extravagance is difficult and
to judge accurately of the precise effect which the
burning down and rebuilding of a city will have on the
drift of its business is more difficult still. If then some
mistakes have been made in the rebuilding of St. John
they are such as naturally arise out of the circum-
stances in which our people found themselves.*
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The relocation of businesses during the reconstruction
period resulted in more homogeneous streetscapes,
such as Prince William “Wall” Street, with its chains
of insurance, bank and public administrative build-
ings. The movement of some of the residential popula-
tion to the outlying districts was perhaps a
strengthening of the trend to develop residential areas
in the suburbs, although during the period large num-
bers of residences for both the wealthy and profes-
sional classes were rebuilt on their previous sites in the
city core. Not only was the physical appearance of the
buildings changed, but also their distribution. Over
the short span of four years, the central portion of the
city had essentially been replaced.
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